IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL SCOTT KEEN,)		
Appellant,)		
VS.)	CASE NO.	88,802
STATE OF FLORIDA,))		
Appellee.))		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD JORANDBY Public Defender

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 265446 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

Attorney for Michael Scott Keen

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and appellee the prosecution in the Circuit Court. The volume of the current record or transcript will be referred to by roman numeral. The following symbols will be used:

- R Record on Appeal
- T Transcript on Appeal
- ST Supplemental Transcript on Appeal
- 1R Record of Original Appeal
- 2R Record of Second Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a retrial after two prior reversals for new trials by this Honorable Court. <u>Keen v. State</u>, 504 So. 2d (Fla. 1987); <u>Keen v. State</u>, 639 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 1994). 396 This trial was held on June 20-22, 26-27, 1995. Mr. Keen was convicted of first degree murder XVIT1809. The penalty phase The jury recommended life August 14, 1995. was held on XVIIT1903. The trial judge imposed the death penalty XVIIT1916-43.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

FACTS CONCERNING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS

Mr. Keen filed a motion to suppress his police statements prior to his first trial 1R1665-66. An evidentiary hearing was held on this motion 1R121-275. The defense argued two grounds, that the defendant had not been taken to first appearances within 24 hours and that the statement was involuntary 1R275,1668-71. The trial court denied the motion, without making any factfindings 1R1676. This Court upheld the denial

of the motion to suppress. Keen v. State, 504 So. 2d 396, 399-400 (Fla. 1987). This Court has subsequently disapproved of its reasoning in <u>Keen</u> I on this issue. <u>Owen v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 985, 990 (Fla. 1992). This Court did not reach any issues concerning the motion to suppress in the second appeal as it was reversing for a new trial on other grounds. Keen v. State, 639 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Keen filed a new motion to suppress prior to the current trial, which raised new grounds as well as re-raising previous grounds IR93-99. Oral argument was held on the motion and the defense adopted the evidence at the prior motion ST23-26. The trial court denied the motion IR115-123. Defense counsel renewed the motion at the time the statements were introduced and orally added an additional ground XIIT1338-47. The trial judge again denied the motion XIIT1338-47.

Don Scarborough of the Broward County Sheriff's Office took a taped statement from Mr. Keen on December 10, 1981 XIIT1208. This statement was taken at the office of Bruce Randall, his attorney on this case XIIT1207. Mr. Keen agreed to speak with his attorney present XIIT1208. During the interview, Mr. Keen was asked how the police could reach him if they needed to speak to him again XIIT1211-12. His attorney indicated that Mr. Keen would stay in touch with him and that he could be reached through his office XIIT1213.

The next attempt by police to interview Mr. Keen was after his arrest on August 23, 1984. This was done by Officers Phillip Amabile and Richard Scheff XIIT1334. Officer Amabile testified that he had reviewed Mr. Keen's prior police

statements XIIT1329. Officers Amabile and Scheff arrested Michael Keen at his place of business in Seminole County, Florida at about 10:15 a.m. on August 23, 1984 1R161. Mr. Keen told an employee, Sam Sparks, to get him a lawyer 1R162. The officers heard him say this and noted it at 10:26 a.m. 1R179. He was given Miranda warnings at 10:31 a.m. 1R179. Mr. Keen was shocked and amazed when arrested 1R160. They took him to the Seminole County Jail and arrived at about 11:15 a.m. 1R163. They then took Mr. Keen to the Seminole County Sheriff's Office and arrived at about 11:45 a.m. 1R165. He was again given Miranda warnings at about 12:15 p.m. and interrogated for about one and one half hours 1R166. He was booked into the Seminole County Jail at about 1:50 p.m. and again given <u>Miranda</u> warnings. The officers did not take him to first appearances from the time they arrested him at 10:15 a.m. on August 23, 1984 until the time they booked him in the Broward County Jail at 9:07 p.m. on August 24, 1984, well beyond the 24 hour period provided by Florida law 1R172.

The officers picked up Mr. Keen at 8 a.m. at the Seminole County Jail on August 24, 1984 1R173. He was given <u>Miranda</u> warnings again 1R179. The trip back to Ft. Lauderdale took about four hours 1R179. During the drive back the officers shifted the conversation to the case 1R192. During this conversation Mr. Keen stated that "he could see no strategic reason to give a statement" 1R193. They arrived back at the Broward County Sheriff's Office at about 12:30 p.m. 1R131. At about 1:30 p.m. the officers placed Mr. Keen in an interview room and gave him <u>Miranda</u> warnings 1R142-43. They spoke to Mr.

Keen for four hours before they began taking a formal statement from him 1R143. Mr. Keen maintained his original version for about three hours 1R144. Around 4:30 p.m. he began to give a different version of events in which he stated that Ken Shapiro pushed he and his wife overboard and that he was able to get back on board and she was not 1R147-49. At approximately 5:45 p.m. Officer Amabile began writing out a statement which he claimed reflected Mr. Keen's new version 1R150-151. Mr. Keen refused to make a taped statement as he feared a tape could be altered 1R150. This written statement ended at approximately 7:45 p.m. 1R155. Mr. Keen refused to sign this "statement" 1R152.

TRIAL FACTS

This case involved the death of Anita Keen, who disappeared in the Atlantic Ocean, off the coast of Broward County, Florida on November 15, 1981. The State's case depended almost completely on the testimony of Ken Shapiro who admitted that he participated in this homicide and has never been charged. Shapiro testified that he came to Florida in December, 1977 at age 24 and had no concrete plans XT922. He originally lived with his grandparents XT923. He finally found a job in June, 1978 XT924. Michael Keen was partly responsible for his being They worked for an electrical sign company XT924. hired XT924. He and Michael Keen became close friends XT925. They went to the movies, jai-alai, dog track, and sporting events together XT926. In late, 1978, he moved into Michael Keen's apartment in Hialeah, Florida XT926. They lived and worked together. Michael Keen was his manager XT927. They worked on commission

and Michael Keen did much better than he did. He needed Michael Keen's help to live XT929. Michael Keen often loaned him money XT929. Michael Keen was very successful as a salesman and Shapiro was very unsuccessful XT930.

In mid-1980 Shapiro left the sign company and took a job with a meat company in Tampa XT933. He was \$2-3,000 in debt to Michael Keen at that time XT934. He lost the job after two or three months and came back to Ft. Lauderdale to live with Michael and Patrick Keen XT935-936. He was driving a Cadillac that Michael Keen had leased for him XT937. He went back to work for the sign company and continued to have financial problems XT937. He continued to socialize with Michael Keen had an active social life and dated regularly, while Shapiro did not date XT940.

Shapiro claimed that Michael Keen met Anita Lopez in late 1980 XT941. He claimed that Mr. Keen had discussed marrying a woman and killing her for profit XT943. He claimed that Mr. Keen had first talked about pushing the woman off a high building and then later talked about drowning her in the ocean XT945. Shapiro was a witness at Mike and Anita's wedding on August 1, 1981 XT952. Shapiro claimed that the plans for the killing began to accelerate after the marriage XT953. He claimed that Mr. Keen also told him that this would clear his debt XT955. He claimed that they had several discussions before the event XT956.

He claimed that on Sunday, November 15, 1997 Michael and Anita went out on the boat and he met them at Tugboat Annie's

XT958. He's not sure when he met them, but he thinks it was between 11 a.m. and 1 p.m. XT960. He claims that they had drinks there XT960. He claimed that they went out on the boat after an hour or so XT961. He claimed that the boat was a Bayliner cruiser with a fly bridge and was over 20 feet in length XT962. He stated that they went east on the Intracoastal 10-20 miles into the ocean XT965. They listened to the Miami Dolphin football game on the radio and eventually switched to music XT966. At first, they all listened and then Anita went down below XT966.

He claimed that eventually Anita came up and stood at the rail XT968. He claimed that Michael then put the boat in neutral and came down from the fly bridge XT969. He claimed that he watched while Mr. Keen "picked her up and pushed her over." XT970. He claims that he "couldn't actually see her go in" the water XT970. He claimed that Mr. Keen then told him to put the boat in gear and get it out of her range which he did XT971. He claimed that Michael Keen then took over control the boat XT971. He claimed they both watched her swim of He claims that they were out there for 15 minutes to XT971. an hour and left her swimming when it got dark XT972. Не claims that they didn't hear her say anything XT972-973. Ιt took several hours to get back XT975. He claimed that they got back at 9 or 10 p.m. or later XT976. He first called the Coast Guard and told the Coast Guard that a woman was missing and they should begin a search XT977. Shapiro believes that Mike did not talk to the Coast Guard XT977. Someone from the

Sheriff's Department came out and they both spoke to him XT977-978.

Shapiro was interviewed about a week later by Detective Carney and he lied under oath XT981. He aqain told the authorities that Anita Keen had disappeared. In 1982 he gave a deposition to an attorney XT982. In 1982 he and Mr. Keen went to California together in a motor home and stayed together for a week or ten days XT983. Michael came back and Shapiro stayed on for another week to ten days XT983. Shapiro then moved to New York for most of 1982 XT982. He gave a deposition in New York in 1982 XT985. He again stated that Ms. Keen disappeared XT986. He lied under oath. He had occasional contact with Michael Keen between 1982 and 1984 ХТ986. He worked for a liquor company in New York and was fired XT989. He came back to Broward County in 1984 XT989. Mr. Keen had moved to Orlando XT990. Officers Amabile and Scheff came to his house in August, 1984 XT991. He was then brought to the police station XT992. They pressured him and threatened him He changed his story after an hour or with prosecution XT993. more of this XT994. He was there for five or six hours XT995. time that he first told anyone his current It was at this version of events.

Shapiro agreed to put a recording device on his phone and to record any conversations with Mr. Keen XT997. A recording was played of his conversation with Mr. Keen on August 2, 1984 XT988. During the tape Mr. Keen consistently says that Anita's death was an accident XT1003,1009,1012.

Mr. Shapiro was unemployed and living off his grandparents in June, 1978 when he met Mr. Keen XT1020. Mr. Keen trained

him and he admired Mr. Keen's sales' ability XT1021. His grandparents wanted him out of their house and Michael Keen gave him a place to stay XT1021. Michael Keen paid most of his bills XT1024. Shapiro lost money gambling XT1023. He often skipped work and went to the track or to bars XT1025. He was financially dependent on Michael Keen XT1026. Mr. Keen leased a Cadillac for him and made most of the payments on the car ХТ1027. He was several thousand dollars in debt to Michael Keen XT1028. Shapiro tried unsuccessfully to make a living off playing the horses XT1028. Shapiro rarely dated XT1029. Mr. Keen was popular with women and dated frequently XT1029. Michael Keen was a big part of Shapiro's social life XT1030.

Shapiro testified that Michael Keen never expressed any hatred of Anita Keen, never hit her, or threatened her XT1035. Shapiro stated in his deposition in New York that Mr. Keen loved Anita very much XT1037. He now claims that he was lying XT1037. He admits that he lied under oath in his statements to Detective Carney and to attorney Stone XT1039. He had previously testified that Michael Keen had called him on the morning of the incident XT1045. He now claims that he's not sure of this XT1045. He told the Coast Guard that Anita Keen was missing when they got back XT1057. He now admits that he lied XT1057. He testified that a representative of the Coast Guard did not come to the house XT1057. He admitted that he had previously testified that a representative of the Coast Guard did come to the house XT1058.

He stated that he is 5'8" and that the railing on the boat came over his waist XT1058-1059. He stated that Anita Keen was

5'2"-5'3" XT1060. He claimed that when Mr. Keen stopped the boat he and Mr. Keen went down from the fly bridge XT1061-62. He testified that Mr. Keen had "picked up" Anita Keen and threw her over the railing XT1062. He had previously testified that she was "pushed over the rail." XT1063. He then claimed that "it was a combination" when he was confronted with the contradiction. In a deposition in 1984 he specifically stated that Michael Keen did <u>not</u> pick Anita up XT1064. He also stated in this deposition that Mr. Keen only touched Anita in the upper back, "behind the shoulder blades." XT1064. He never testified in 1984 that the woman had been picked up XT1065.

Ken Shapiro admitted that he was the person who put the boat in gear and maneuvered it out of Anita Keen's way when she was in the water XT1066. He claims that he didn't see her swim toward the boat XT1068. He claims that he never heard a sound from her XT1069. He claimed that they were close enough to have heard her if she yelled XT1069. He claimed that she was still alive when they headed back XT1071. He told Officer they stayed out there for Carney that 45 minutes XT1072. However, he had testified in a deposition that it had only been 15-20 minutes XT1072-73. He now claims that it may have been over an hour XT1072. He told the police that Anita Keen was wearing a long sleeve blouse XIT1089. He now claims that she was wearing a tank top XIT1089. He admitted that he lied to Mr. Stone when he said that he and Anita were like sister and brother XIT1090. Shapiro testified in 1987 that Anita Keen wanted him out of the house XIT1092. He admitted that in 1980 he was making about \$10,000 a year and Mr. Keen was making \$40-

50,000 a year. In 1980 Mr. Keen had started a new company called Sign Up, which was doing very well XIT1095. He admitted that he had told the police that the date was picked a day or two before, but had told the grand jury that it was two or three weeks earlier XIT1103-1104. He admitted that he lied to the Coast Guard, to Officer Carney and to Mr. Stone in deposition XIT1113-15.

Shapiro claims that he was never promised not to be prosecuted XIT1117. He was confronted with a written statement attorney from the prosecutor stating that the to his State Attorney had no intent to prosecute XIT1117-18. He claimed that he had never seen this XIT1118. He admitted that he lied under oath twice XIT1122. The police threatened him with a homicide prosecution when they came to him in 1984 XIT1138. He has never been prosecuted for anything in regard to this incident XIT1144.

The State called Hector Mimoso, a former deputy with the Broward County Sheriff's Office XIIT1187. He went to Michael Keen's house on November 15, 1981 at 11:03 p.m. on a missing person's report XIIT1189. He was asking Mr. Keen the questions and Mr. Shapiro was answering them XIIT1193. Shapiro seemed restless and worried XIIT1194. Michael Keen appeared calm XIIT1195. He had to ask Shapiro to let Mr. Keen talk XIIT1195. Mr. Keen stated that he, his wife, and Shapiro had gone out boating and had decided to come back about six o'clock XIIT1195-1196. Anita Keen had become tired and had qone downstairs to sleep XIIT1196. They arrived back home and she was missing XIIT1196. Mr. Keen said that he had not heard any

splash or scream XIIT1201. Shapiro was answering all of the questions and he had to tell him to stop XIIT1203. Shapiro seemed very interested in what was being said XIIT1204.

prosecution called Officer Don Scarborough The of the Broward County Sheriff's Office XIIT1205. He took a taped statement from Michael Keen on December 10, 1981 XIIT1208. Mr. Keen stated that on November 15, 1981 he went out on his boat with his wife XIIT1214. They left at about 11 or 12 in the morning and stopped at Tugboat Annie's XIIT1215. Shapiro met them there XIIT1215. They had drinks and then went back out into the ocean XIIT1215. They turned on the Miami Dolphins game on the radio and headed due east XIIT1216. They were all three on the fly bridge XIIT1217. They turned on music when the game ended XIIT1217. They watched the sunset and then Anita got tired and went below to go to sleep XIIT1218. They headed back and listened to music along the way XIIT1219. Anita Keen was missing when they returned home XIIT1220. Ken Shapiro then called the Coast Guard and the Broward County Sheriff's Office XIIT1221.

The State introduced the testimony of Don Johnson, a Life of Virginia sales representative XIIT1236. He contacted Mr. Keen in June, 1981 when Mr. Keen moved into the area from Orlando XIIT1237. Mr. Keen took out a \$50,000 life double indemnity insurance policy on his fiancee XIIT1238. His fiancee was present and answered all the questions XIIT1238.

The State called Maddie Genova, a retired office worker from Prudential Insurance XIIT1254. In June of 1981 she was working as an assistant office manager XIIT1255. She

identified a whole life policy for \$50,000 on Anita Keen, with a double indemnity provision in the case of accidental death XIIT1268. Michael Keen was the beneficiary XIIT1269. The records reflect that the policy was sold based on a call initiated by the agent XIIT1271. Mr. Keen had \$115,000 in life insurance on himself XIIT1275. A whole life policy is a form of forced savings in which equity is built up XIIT1276-77.

The State called Officer Phillip Amabile of the Broward Sheriff's Office XIIT1321. Не and Officer Richard Scheff contacted Ken Shapiro on August 21, 1984 XIIT1328. They spoke to him for four hours or longer XIIT1330. He and Officer Scheff arrested Mr. Keen on August 23, 1984 in Seminole County, Florida XIIT1334. He was taken to the Seminole County Jail and then to the Seminole County Sheriff's Office for interrogation XIIT1335-1336. They confronted him with Ken Shapiro's new version of the offense XIIT1337. He claimed that Mr. Keen maintained original that the 1981 statement was correct He claimed that after about two hours Michael Keen XIIT1349. stated that it was "a big fuck up." XIIT1358. Mr. Keen stated that he and his wife went out on the boat on November 15, 1981 XIIT1359. They stopped at Tugboat Annie's and met Ken Shapiro They all went out on the boat into the ocean there XIIT1359. XIIT1360. They listened to the Dolphins game as they went out to sea XIIT1360. He stated that eventually Ken Shapiro took over the controls of the boat XIIT1360. He claimed that Mr. Keen stated that he and Anita were hugging on the side of the He felt a shove and they both fell overboard boat XIIT1361. XIIT1361. She hit her head on the platform XIIT1361. Michael

Keen eventually got back on the boat and got control of the boat XIIT1361. He stated that Shapiro was like a zombie frozen at the controls XIIT1361. After an hour they gave up searching and returned home XIIT1361. He stated that he felt it was an accident XIIT1363.

They passed a Coast Guard station on the way in but Shapiro didn't want stop because he felt they wouldn't to believe it was an accident XIIT1379. Shapiro called the Sheriff's Office when they returned home and he did all the talking XIIT1380. Shapiro came up with the original version of a disappearance XIIT1382.

They spoke for about two more hours and eventually recorded this in the officer's handwriting XIIT1365. Officer Scheff took over writing at one point and Mr. Keen made two corrections of intentional errors that Officer Amabile had made XIIT1368. He claimed that he normally tapes conversations, but that Mr. Keen wanted it recorded this way XIIT1369. Mr. Keen refused to sign the statement XIIT1384.

Officer Amabile stated that the case boiled down to Ken Shapiro's word against Michael Keen's XIVT1395. Shapiro was home sick when they went to see him in August, 1984 XIVT1397. originally said Shapiro the death was а mystery XIVT1399. Shapiro continued with this for over an hour XIVT1401. They told Shapiro that they had information implicating him in a murder XIVT1401. They told him if he persisted in his version it would increase the chance of him being charged with murder They let him know that it was best XIVT1403. to try and cooperate with them XIVT1403. They interrogated Shapiro for

over six hours XIVT1404. Shapiro eventually says that Mr. Keen "pushed" his wife XIVT1406. He never said he lifted or threw her XIVT1406. Shapiro has never been arrested XIVT1408.

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