IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL	SCOTT	KEEN,
---------	-------	-------

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 88,802 L.T. Case No. 84-9474 Broward County

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

DAVID M. SCHULTZ
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0874523
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401
(561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

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

testimony.

Appellant finally argues that the letter directly contradicts Mr. Moran's testimony that he did not testify against his Michigan co-defendant, Ted Scafey (IB 34). However, this is not the test for the admissibility of extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement. The test is whether a witness denies making or does not distinctly admit making the prior inconsistent statement. Fla. Stat. § 90.614(2). In this matter, Mr. Moran distinctly admitted that he had made the statement that he "testified against the real killer" (TV XIV, 1510/14). Furthermore, the statement that he "testified against the real killer" does not contradict the incourt statement that he did not testify against Ted Scafey. Note that it was defense counsel, not Michael Moran, who kept referring to Ted Scafey as Mr. Moran's co-defendant. In order for the two statements to be contradictory, then Mr. Moran would have to believe that the "real killer" was Ted Scafey. Nothing in the record suggests this. In fact, when Mr. Moran was given an opportunity to explain his testimony, he did make the point that the person against whom he testified was not his co-defendant. explained that he only gave authorities information (about who he was with the evening of the homicide) which resulted in Scafey being arrested. The testimony referenced in his letter to Judge

O'Brien was to rebut his co-defendant's statement that implicated him in the crime. Clearly, the real killer referenced in the letter was the same co-defendant, who is not Ted Scafey.

Finally, appellant stated that the prosecution opened the door to "this entire area" (IB 32, 34). However, relevancy is of no consequence if the document cannot overcome the hearsay objection made by the prosecutor (TV XV, 1617/2). Clearly the letter is an out-of-court statement made by a non-party and is hearsay pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 90.801. Be that as it may, the letter was still not material to this matter. As discussed above, this letter was not probative of Mr. Moran's motive or bias in a 1995 trial. Absent these issues, the letter was not probative of any other material issue in this trial.

Even if error, however, it was harmless pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 59.041, Fla. Stat. § 924.33 and the holding of *State v. Diguilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in that there was no reasonable possibility that the alleged error contributed to the conviction.

POINT IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION THAT THE WITNESS LACKED PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE OF HIS HANDWRITING.

The prosecutor handed Mr. Shapiro State's Exhibit N for identification (TV XII, 1185/20). This exhibit was later admitted into evidence through Mr. Moran (TV XIV, 1496/4). This exhibit contained the information that Mr. Moran got from appellant concerning among other things where he might locate Mr. Shapiro (TV XIV, 1494/23-1495/5). Mr. Moran testified that the handwriting at the bottom of this document was that of appellant (TV XIV, 1495/5).

As soon as the prosecutor showed Mr. Shapiro this document,

defense counsel asked for a sidebar (TV XI, 1156/22) and then a proffer (TV XI, 1163/2, 1167/21). During the proffer, Mr. Shapiro testified that he recognized the way that the word "Patrick" was printed because he had seen appellant print his brother's first name before (TV XI, 1169/20). Mr. Shapiro testified that the way that appellant prints the name Patrick looked just like it did on the document (TV XI, 1169/5). Mr. Shapiro explained that he recognized it by the way the P, the A, the T and the R looked (TV XI, 1169/7). Mr. Shapiro admitted that the only word that he could definitely recognize as appellant's printing was the name Patrick although the rest of the printing looked similar (TV XI, 1169/24-1170/15).

Although Mr. Shapiro did testify that he thought that he would only be able to identify appellant's signature, that was in terms of recognizing his cursive writing and was because Mr. Shapiro had mainly perceived appellant's signature on checks (TV XI, 1166)

After the proffer, defense counsel interposed an objection to this testimony on the basis that Mr. Shapiro lacked personal knowledge (TV XI, 1174/16). After argument, the trial court overruled the objection, but only to the extent that Mr. Shapiro could testify that he recognized that the name "Patrick" was printed by appellant (TV XI 1178).

As appellant points out, a non-expert may give opinion testimony on handwriting when they are sufficiently familiar with the handwriting in question. Sufficient familiarity is established when the witness testifies that he has seen the purported writer sign his name on different occasions and believes that he or she is familiar with the writer's signature. Pittman v. State, 51 Fla. 94, 41 So. 385, 393 (1906). Mr. Shapiro testified that he had seen appellant print his brother's name before, albeit rarely, and could recognize it. Mr. Shapiro pointed out nuances in the manner in which appellant printed certain letters that he recognized. Although Mr. Shapiro testified that the name Patrick was the only word that he definitely recognized, the fact that the witness cannot state positively that the other printing on the document is that of the alleged writer does not bar such testimony. v. State, 38 Fla. 169, 20 So. 938 (1896). Based on Mr. Shapiro's proffered testimony, the State would argue that the necessary foundation for Mr. Shapiro's testimony was laid and that there was a sufficient foundation to permit Mr. Shapiro's testimony about the remaining printing on the bottom of the document.

Appellant argues that Mr. Shapiro was not sufficiently familiar with appellant's printing and in support thereof cites to $Fassi\ v.\ State$, 591 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), where it was

found to be error to allow the witness to compare spray painted graffiti to the defendant's handwriting. However, Fassi is not comparable to this case, because (1) this case involves only one medium and (2) Mr. Shapiro clearly testified that he had previously seen appellant print the word "Patrick" the same as it was printed on the document. The record shows that Mr. Shapiro was sufficiently familiar with appellant's printed word.

A trial court has wide discretion concerning the admissibility of evidence, and a reviewing court should not disturb a trial court's evidentiary ruling unless a clear abuse of that discretion has been demonstrated. Kearse v. State, 662 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1995); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111 (1982). Discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. Booker v. State, 514 So. 2d 1079, 1085 (Fla. 1985). Based on Mr. Shapiro's proffer, there was no abuse of discretion.

Even if error, however, it was harmless pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 59.041, Fla. Stat. § 924.33 and the holding of *State v. Diguilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in that there was no reasonable possibility that the alleged error contributed to the conviction.

POINT V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ALLOWING OPINION TESTIMONY OF A LAY WITNESS.

Hector Mimoso was the Broward deputy dispatched to appellant's

home when appellant or Mr. Shapiro called in the missing person report (TV XII, 1189/13-25). Mr. Mimoso testified without objection that while there he went up to the fly bridge of appellant's boat to determine is someone in that location could hear the splash or scream of a person falling off the boat (TV XII, 1199/10-18). The prosecutor then asked Deputy Mimoso whether based on his own observations he had an opinion as to whether such a person could have been seen or heard from the fly bridge, and defense counsel interposed an objection solely on the basis of speculation (TV XII, 1199/19-23). The trial court overruled the objection to the extent that Deputy Mimoso's opinion was based on his observations. Deputy Mimoso testified that according to his observation of the location of the fly bridge relative to the back of the boat he believed it was possible to hear a scream or a splash from the fly bridge (TV XII, 1200/4). On cross-examination Deputy Mimoso was asked if he ever started the boat engines to determine what could then be heard, and Deputy Mimoso responded that he had not (TV XII, 1202/12-16).

As below, appellant's sole argument now is that Detective Mimoso's testimony was mere speculation (IB 37). Appellant has preserved no other issue for review. *Rodriguez v. State*, 609 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1992). Appellant cites to *Durrance v. Sanders*, 329

So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) in support of this argument, but Durrance points out that testimony is purely speculative when it is not based on any premise of fact. See also Drackett Products Co. v. Blue, 152 So. 2d 463, 465 (Fla. 1963). Section 90.701 Fla. Stat. (1995) further requires that opinion testimony of a lay witness be based on something the witness perceived. See also Somerville v. State, 584 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). A lay witness may give opinion testimony when he has firsthand knowledge through personal observations of the facts which are the basis of his opinion. Barnes v. State, 415 So. 2d 1280, 1283 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), rev. denied, 424 So. 2d 760 (Fla. 1982).

Detective Mimoso testified that he based his opinion on the location of the fly bridge relative to the location of the back of the boat, both of which he personally perceived. Therefore, this opinion is not based on pure speculation but a premise of fact. Again, a trial court has wide discretion concerning the admissibility of evidence, and a reviewing court should not disturb a trial court's evidentiary ruling unless a clear abuse of that discretion has been demonstrated. *Kearse v. State*, 662 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1995). Based on the above, there was no abuse of discretion.

The fact that Detective Mimoso did not start the engines of the boat does not affect the admissibility of his testimony but the

weight. Further, on cross-examination defense counsel asked Detective Mimoso whether he had started the engines to determine what could be heard with them running.

Even if error, however, it was harmless pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 59.041, Fla. Stat. § 924.33 and the holding of *State v. Diguilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in that there was no reasonable possibility that the alleged error contributed to the conviction.

POINT VI

WHETHER IT WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO ADMIT INTO EVIDENCE A TAPED CONVERSATION BETWEEN APPELLANT AND KEN SHAPIRO.

The taped conversation between Ken Shapiro and appellant was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit 7 (TV X, 998/8). As it was received into evidence and before it was published to the jury, defense counsel asked for a sidebar discussion and indicated that he would object to its admission, unless the prosecutor would represent on the record that Exhibit 7 was the redacted copy of the tape (TV X, 998/14-999/14). The prosecutor assured him that it was.

Appellant argues that Mr. Shapiro's comment to appellant, "in light of your past history, even she believes that you're guilty" amounts to fundamental error. Appellant concedes that he made no objection to the admissibility of the tape and that absent fundamental error this issue has not been preserved for appellate review.

In order for an error to be considered fundamental, it must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the

assistance of the alleged error. Brown v. State, 124 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1960). None of the cases cited by appellant discuss the legal principle of fundamental error. However, in State v. Davis, 290 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1974), which was cited by appellant, the reason this Court affirmed the district court in Davis v. State, 276 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973) was because the collateral crimes evidence became a feature of the trial, taking up 25 pages of transcript.

In this case the alleged error took up approximately one sentence. Furthermore, the jury obviously believed the testimony of Ken Shapiro and would have convicted appellant even without this portion of the tape being played for them.

A case very much on point is Lowe v. State, 650 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1994), where the defendant failed to make a contemporaneous objection to the playing of a tape of an interrogation of him, during which a police officer referred to the defendant's prior robbery conviction and the fact that the defendant had been previously incarcerated and also stated his opinion that the defendant was guilty of the murder in the instant case. Similar to this case, prior to trial in Lowe the State redacted portions of the tape at defense counsel's request. Defense counsel approved of the redactions and made no further objection to the admissibility

of the tape. This Court ruled that under those facts the issue had not been preserved for appellate review. Further, this Court found that any error in admitting the unredacted portions of the tape was not fundamental error.

In Lowe, the opinion regarding guilt was made by a law enforcement officer, while in this matter the opinion was made by a lay witness. In Lowe, the collateral crimes evidence was also made by a police officer and specifically referred to a prior robbery conviction and prior incarceration. In this matter, the only collateral crimes evidence was the vague comment "in light of your prior history." Other than what was said, the facts in Lowe are almost identical to this case. However, what was said and who said it in Lowe was much more prejudicial. Nonetheless, this court found no fundamental error. Therefore, any alleged error in this case is also not fundamental error and therefore has not been preserved for appellate review.

Even if error, however, it would be harmless pursuant to Fla. Stat. §59.041, Fla. Stat. § 924.33 and the holding of *State v. Diguilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in that there was no reasonable possibility that the alleged error contributed to the appellant's conviction.

POINT VII

WHETHER THE JURY WAS REASONABLY MISLED BY THE COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTION ON JURISDICTION.

Appellant filed a pre-trial motion to dismiss alleging that the State of Florida does not have jurisdiction to prosecute a homicide only element occurring in Florida when the premeditation (R 67). When this instruction was brought up in the charge conference, defense counsel objected to the second paragraph again on the basis that mere premeditation within the State of Florida does not invest the State of Florida with jurisdiction (TV XV, 1629/23-1630/13). Defense counsel stressed that his objection was made to be consistent with his pre-trial motion (TV XV, 1630/6-Appellant nonetheless told the trial court that a venue 10). instruction was necessary (TV XV, 1630/16), but he never provided

the trial court with a proposed written instruction.

Now in addition to arguing that mere premeditation in Florida does not invest the State of Florida with jurisdiction, appellant argues that the language "such as premeditation" improperly highlights the State's theory of the case and is one-sided.

A party may not raise on appeal the giving or the failure to give a jury instruction unless he makes an objection in the trial court, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds of his objection. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d). The objection must be sufficiently specific both to apprise the trial court of the alleged error and to preserve the issue for review.

Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701,703 (Fla. 1978); Gainer v. State, 633 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). The second issue now argued was not made in the trial court and has therefore not been preserved for appellate review.

Nonetheless, the standard of review is whether there was a reasonable possibility that the jury could have been misled by the instruction, when examined within the context of the entire charge to the jury. Cronin v. State, 470 So. 2d 802 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). The instruction as given would not have misled the jury. It stated the law correctly and gave premeditation as an example of an element that must have occurred in Florida. This jury had likely

never before heard the term element, as used in the context of a criminal trial, and this instruction would have helped them to better understand their charge.

The first issue, whether mere premeditation in Florida is sufficient to acquire jurisdiction, was resolved by this Court in Keen v. State, 504 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 1987), pursuant to Lane v. State, 388 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 1980), and is law of the case.

POINT VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTION TO CROSS-EXAMINATION THAT MICHAEL MORAN HAD EXPRESSED AN INTENT TO INVOKE THE FIFTH AMENDMENT PRIVILEGE.

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